
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska                                                                                          September 27, 2005 
                                                                                                                                Page 1 of 8 

City Council Minutes 
City of Palmer, Alaska 

                      Regular Meeting 
September 27, 2005 

 
A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
A regular meeting of the Palmer City Council was held on September 27, 2005, at 7 p.m. in the 
council chambers, Palmer, Alaska. 
 
Mayor Combs called the meeting to order at 7 p.m. 
 
B. ROLL CALL 
 
Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following were present: 
 

  Ken Erbey  Brad Hanson  
 Jim Wood  John Combs   
         
Not in attendance, with excused absences, were: 
 
 Steve Carrington Tony Pippel 
 Kathrine Vanover 
 
Also in attendance were the following: 
  

 Tom Healy, City Manager 
 Jack Snodgrass, City Attorney 

Janette Bower, City Clerk 
 
C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Former Mayor George Carte. 
 
D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
The agenda was approved as presented. 

1. Approval of Consent Agenda 
a. Introduction – Ordinance No. 05-033: Amending Palmer Municipal Code Section 

2.04.110; Specially to Amend the Order of Business for Regular City Council 
Meetings (IM 05-089) 

b. Introduction – Ordinance No. 05-034: Enacting Palmer Municipal Code Sections 
17.08.196 and 17.60.075; Specifically to Define Garage or Yard Sales and to Enact 
Regulations Regarding Their Activities (IM  05-090) 

c. Introduction – Ordinance No. 05-035: Providing for Organization Amendments to 
Palmer Municipal Code Section 17.16.010 (Districts Established); Specifically to 
Revise R2 from Medium  Density to Low Density, Add R3, Medium Density Multi-
Family Residential District, R4, High Density Multi-Family Residential District, and 
T, Transitional District (IM 05-091) 

2. Minutes of Previous Meetings – the minutes were amended and approved.  
a. September 13, 2005, Regular Meeting 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska                                                                                          September 27, 2005 
                                                                                                                                Page 2 of 8 

b. September 20, 2005, Special Meeting 
 
E. COMMUNICATIONS AND APPEARANCE REQUESTS 
 

1. Joe Lawton – Alaska State Fair 
Mr. Lawton reported on the following items: 

• Overall Fair attendance for the year was 272,543 – down approximately 5 percent 
from the previous year; 

• Paid admissions were down approximately 8 percent; 
• Three different cases of counterfeiting were reported during the Fair – counterfeit 

$100 bills, as well as certain vouchers and admission tickets; 
• Effects of Earlier School Opening  – spoke of the ramifications of moving the dates 

of the Fair; 
• Advanced engineering study on the Farm Exhibit building – the finished structure 

would seat 10,848 in a flat-floor configuration with a mezzanine; the forecasted cost 
is approximately $14 million, due to new code requirements and construction costs a 
decision must be made this winter whether to move forward; 

• Discussion ensued regarding the structural needs of the building and its usage; 
• Discussion ensued regarding a Conditional Use Permit for the racetrack.  Mr. Lawton 

noted that all necessary data has not bee accumulated and plans to discuss it further 
with the Fair Board next month; 

• Discussion ensued regarding attendance versus paid attendance.  
2. George Carte – Sister School Program 
Mr. Carte reported on the following items: 

• Ten middle school students traveled to Saroma in June; 
• Four middle school students from Saroma to Palmer in January; 
• Four high school students visited Saroma in August; 
• High School Coordinator – working to further the Sister School Program; speaks 

Japanese and is a teacher at Palmer High School; noted he has greatly enhanced and 
aided in furthering the program; 

• Reminded the council of funding for the Japanese Gardens project; 
• Introduced Carla Williams as the new chair of the Sister City Program; 
• Introduced Paul Morley, who stated he has coordinated the Program for the past four 

years and expanded on the experiences of the students. Mr. Morley explained the 
student selection process and costs associated with the program. He stated that the 
students spend two to three weeks living with a host family in Saroma.  Mr. Morley 
introduced the following students who each talked about and described their 
experiences while living with their host families in Japan: 

• Alicia Batchelder; 
• Gia Homestead; 
• Wendy Stevens. 

3. Nick Nelson – Boys & Girls Club 
Mr. Nelson reported on the following items: 

• Thanked the City for its past support; 
• Introduced Debbie Thorasen, Assistant Manager. Ms. Thorasen highlighted the 

following programs and spoke of successes over the past year: 
• Early Bird Program; 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska                                                                                          September 27, 2005 
                                                                                                                                Page 3 of 8 

• Project Lead; 
• Yellow Ribbon Week; 
• Smart Moves; 
• Peer Leaders; 
• Computer Lab; 

• Mr. Nelson spoke of the financial goals of the Clubhouse; 
• The identification of a community owned Clubhouse; 
• Goal to increase positive awareness of the Club in the community through the media 

and outreach activities; 
• Continue to seek out and develop partnerships in the Valley – established partnerships 

with the Mat-Su Youth Facility and Saxon Youth Shelter, providing them space in 
their clubhouse building; 

• Advisory Committee – consists of local leaders and parents; first meeting will be held 
October 13, 2005; and every second Thursday of the month at 6:30 p.m. at the 
Clubhouse; invited attendance and participation; 

• Discussion ensued regarding the Advisory Committee, pick-up and drop-off services 
within Palmer for approximately 50-60 students from Palmer, the lease agreement for 
the current building, enrollment of children from 7-12 years old within the City, 
participation of governmental agency funding, preparation of statistical reports, 
success measurement, and media and community outreach. 

4. Russ Boatright – City of Palmer Police Department (Written Report) 
Chief Boatright’s report was contained within the council packet. 
5. Rick Koch – City of Palmer Public Works Director (Written Report) 
Mr. Koch’s report was placed on the table. 
 

F. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 
 
G. ACTION MEMORANDUMS 
 
Item 1 – Action Memorandum 05-076: Authorize City Manager to Enter Into a Cooperative 
Services Agreement with the Matanuska-Susitna Borough and the City of Houston for Dispatch 
Services 
MOVED BY: Hanson 
SECONDED BY: Wood 

To authorize the city manager to enter into a cooperative 
services agreement with the Matanuska-Susitna 
Borough and the City of Houston for Dispatch Services  

 
City Manager Healy reported the agreement’s application to the current calendar year revenues 
and expenses. He explained the three-year agreement and as identical to previous agreements 
with Wasilla, Palmer, Houston, and the Borough, with the exception of Wasilla no longer being a 
party due to operation of their own dispatch center. City Manager Healy explained the allocation 
of costs and 9-1-1 related services within the Borough. He explained the only other change in the 
agreement under section J, which speaks of residual funding.  
 
Council Member Hanson commented on the residual funding and stated that the total operating 
costs will decrease. He noted that the funds would not be distributed directly to the City but will 
be of overall benefit to the Dispatch Center.  
 
Council Member Hanson inquired of the building costs as a function of the operation costs. City 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska                                                                                          September 27, 2005 
                                                                                                                                Page 4 of 8 

Manager Healy confirmed that the total base budget includes all Dispatch Center operation costs. 
 
Mayor Combs spoke of the 2004 allocation and the Borough’s responsibility regarding 
operations. He inquired of the status of fund collection. City Manager Healy stated that the 
Borough has agreed to the budget and does not anticipate problems upon finalization of the 
agreement.  
 
Council Member Hanson asked of the Borough’s input regarding operation of the center and 
stated that if they haven't been provided an opportunity for input in the past – opportunities 
should be given to them. He suggested that a more comprehensive relationship with the Borough 
be established and that a good line of communication between the parties be established as well. 
City Manager Healy spoke to the improved communications with the Borough. 
 

VOTE ON MAIN MOTION: Motion carried by unanimous voice vote. 
 
Item 2 – Action Memorandum 05-105: Authorize City Manager to Pay Back Taxes to the 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough with the Intent to Receive a Quit Claim Deed for Property Located 
at 1516 South Bonanza, Case #3PA-04-472 CI 
 MOVED BY: Hanson 
SECONDED BY: Erbey 

To authorize the city manager to pay back taxes to the 
Matanuska-Susitna Borough with the intent to receive a 
quitclaim deed for property located at 1516 S. Bonanza, 
Case #3PA-04-472 CI 

 
City Manager Healy explained the pending foreclosure of the subject property by the Borough 
for delinquent property taxes and notice received by the City indicating that the City may enter 
into the process to pay the back taxes, penalties, and interest. He stated that following payment, 
the City would receive a quitclaim deed to the property and explained that the process must be 
complete by October 24, 2005. He explained the rights of property owner to redeem the property 
by paying the back taxes, interest, penalties, costs and fees within a 10-year time period. He 
explained that by ordinance, the City can reduce or eliminate the redemption period by making 
the determination that the property will be retained for a public purpose. City Manager Healy 
described the property location and noted the Borough assessed value of $330,000.  
 

Primary Amendment #1 to Main Motion 
Moved by: Wood 
Seconded by: Erbey 

To include the language: to authorize the city 
manager to obtain a title report and a phase I 
environmental assessment for the property 

 
Council Member Hanson asked of the costs of a Phase I environmental 
assessment. City Manager Healy estimated the costs to be about $2500 for the 
environmental and $500 for the title report. 
 
Council Member Wood inquired of the risks to the City should the property 
owner redeem the property within the 10-year period.  Attorney Snodgrass spoke 
of beginning the process to declare the property for a public purpose.  Council 
Member Wood inquired of the involved timeframe. Attorney Snodgrass discussed 
the ordinance process, owner notification, and redemption timeframe. 
 
Further discussion continued concerning the City's risk of losing $3,000 for the 
environmental assessment and title report versus the likelihood of the property 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska                                                                                          September 27, 2005 
                                                                                                                                Page 5 of 8 

owner redeeming the property. Attorney Snodgrass stated that statistically, it is 
more likely than not that the owner will cure and explained the court process.  
 
Council Member Wood suggested that the City contact the property owner to 
inquire of his intentions regarding the property. Attorney Snodgrass concurred. 
 
Mayor Combs asked what would happen if the City chose not to acquire the 
property. Attorney Snodgrass stated that the Borough would attain the property 
through its tax foreclosure process. 

 

Vote on Amendment: Motion carried by unanimous voice vote. 
 
Mayor Combs suggested that the action be postponed until the next meeting to gather further 
information.  
 

Moved by: Wood 
Seconded by: Erbey 

To postpone the main motion as amended until 
the next regular meeting 

 

Vote on Postponement: Motion carried by unanimous voice vote. 
 
H. HEARINGS, ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS 
 
Item 1 – Public Hearing – Ordinance No. 05-032: Amending Palmer Municipal Code 
2.11.020; Specifically to Enact Language Regarding the Council, Mayor and Clerk Budget 
Process (IM 05-084) 
MOVED BY: Hanson 
SECONDED BY: Wood 

To adopt ordinance no. 05-032 

 
Mayor Combs opened the public hearing for ordinance no. 05-032.  There being no persons who 
wished to testify, the public hearing was closed and the matter was brought back before the 
council. 
 
Council Member Wood asked of the purpose behind the ordinance. City Clerk Bower stated that 
the code change defines the clerk's responsibility to prepare the council, mayor, and clerk's 
budget, and submission through the manager to the council with manager recommendations.  
Council Member Wood asked if the language would preclude the manager from altering what the 
clerk has prepared. It was noted that although the manager could make recommendations, the 
budget would be submitted to the council as prepared by the clerk. Attorney Snodgrass explained 
the distinction between the manager's responsibility for the budget of all city departments and 
that portion of the budget (council, mayor, clerk) not subject to the manager's approval, other 
than recommendations, prior to submission to the council. Mayor Combs stated he would 
certainly want to see manager recommendations concerning any budget submitted.   
 
Council Member Wood voiced his opposition to the ordinance stating that the budget is the city 
manager’s responsibility. He stated that because the system has continued to work successfully, 
there is not a need to for change.   
 
City Manager Healy noted the distinction and separation between the Manager's and the Clerk's 
responsibilities to the Council. He stated he doesn't necessarily object to the language, but stated 
that certain questions would need to be answered. He explained the code language regarding the 
City Manager’s responsibility for preparation of the budget and stated that should the clerk be 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska                                                                                          September 27, 2005 
                                                                                                                                Page 6 of 8 

responsible for preparation of the Mayor, Council and Clerk budget, an amendment to Charter 
Section 2.10 would be necessary. City Manager Healy noted his understanding of the reason why 
the Clerk would prepare the Clerk's budget, but questioned the reason for the Clerk preparing the 
council and mayor budget. City Clerk Bower stated that historically and in her experience, 
preparation of the council budget has always resided with the clerk.   
 
Council Member Hanson spoke to not understanding the division and separation between the 
Clerk and Manager in a city government the size of Palmer. Discussion continued regarding the 
distinction between the two offices. 
 
Council Member Wood stated that the city manager should prepare the annual budget for all 
departments due to the manager’s responsibility for budget management. Council Member Wood 
stated that preparation of the budget should be a consolidated effort and completed in the same 
manner in which the manager has previously received the information concerning the needs of 
the mayor, council and clerk budget. 
 
Council Member Hanson concurred with Council Member Wood; stated that the city manager 
has more insight into the direction of the city, the direction of the council, the elements that go 
into making the council and mayor budgets and the various affects on the overall scheme.  
 
Mayor Combs spoke to the original intent behind the Clerk being separate from the City 
Manager in terms of responsibility and who they are hired by. He stated that he believes 
separation is necessary to insulate the Clerk from any hint of influence from the Manager's office 
regarding matters for which she is responsible for and those items which come directly to the 
council.  He stated that as far as the council and mayor budgets are concerned, City Manager 
Healy has been doing a good job. 
 

VOTE ON MAIN MOTION: Motion failed by 1-3 (Erbey) voice vote. 
 
I. BIDS 
 
J. UNFINISHED BUSINESS  
 
K. NEW BUSINESS 
 
L. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 
City Manager Healy reported on the following items: 

• Budget preparation period; 
• Finance Director – hopes to have a response from the Finance Director candidate; 
• October 11 council meeting – the agenda will include a general discussion regarding 

direction and trends of the City budget; 
• CIP Priorities – materials are being prepared to present to our representatives. 

 
M. CITY CLERK’S REPORT 
 
Ms. Bower reported on the election process. 
 
N. RECORD OF ITEMS PLACED ON THE TABLE 
 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska                                                                                          September 27, 2005 
                                                                                                                                Page 7 of 8 

The following items were placed on the table: 

• Boys & Girls Club information;  
• Report from Public Works Director Rick Koch; 
• Financial documents from the Finance Department. 
 

O. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 
 
P. COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 
Council Member Wood commented on Central Paving/Wilder Construction's presentation and 
spoke of the worthiness of their proposal. He stated that the City is a long ways away from a 
decision but thought the concept looked good on paper. 
 
Mayor Combs noted that Council Member Pippel is traveling to Virginia Mason for some tests 
and encouraged the council to keep him in their thoughts.  He reported that and Council Member 
Pippel have a meeting scheduled for October 7 with General Sharrow, who is Congressman 
Young's representative in Alaska. He announced that his last day at Mat-Su Youth Facility will 
October 2 and his first day at the City of Palmer fulltime will be October 3, 2005.  He reported 
that flu shots will be available Tuesday, October 4, in council chambers for city employees.   
 
Council Member Hanson commented on the Central Paving presentation, stating that the 
project deserves further examination and suggested further dialog regarding the project. Mayor 
Combs concurred. 
 
Q. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
Item 1 –Matters, the immediate knowledge of which would clearly have an adverse effect upon 
the finances of the public entity – Stout Parcel 
MOVED BY: Hanson 
SECONDED BY: Erbey 

To enter into executive session to discuss matter, the 
immediate knowledge of which would clearly have an 
adverse effect upon the finances of the public entity – 
Stout Parcel 

 
The council entered into executive session at 9:28 p.m. and exited at 9:47 p.m. 
 

VOTE ON MAIN MOTION: Motion carried by unanimous voice vote. 
 
R. POSSIBLE ACTION REGARDING STOUT PROPERTY 
MOVED BY: Hanson 
SECONDED BY: Wood 

To authorize the city manager to deposit $38,000 with the 
court for the action regarding the Stout property.  

 
Attorney Snodgrass explained the amount of $38,000 as the appraisal amount for the easement, 
received on September 16, 2005, and that it will be used as a deposit in the court as part of the 
process for the City to obtain possession of the easement. 
 

VOTE ON MAIN MOTION: Motion carried by unanimous voice vote. 
 
Q.  ADJOURNMENT 
 
With no further business before the Council, the meeting adjourned at 9:50 p.m.  
 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska                                                                                          September 27, 2005 
                                                                                                                                Page 8 of 8 

APPROVED THIS 11th day of October, 2005. 
 
 

                 /s/ 
       John C. Combs, Mayor 
 
 
                /s/ 
Janette M. Bower, City Clerk  


	City of Palmer, Alaska

